Case No. 82694

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Sep 29 2021 11:04 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

BRAD L. KNOWLTON, an individual,

Appellant,

VS.

WILLIAM L. LINDNER, as Trustee of the William L. Lindner and Maxine G. Lindner Trust of 1988; JUEL A. PARKER, as Trustee of the Juel A. Parker Family Trust; LISA PARKER, as Trustee of the Juel A. Parker Family Trust; LISA PARKER, an individual; and S. BRUCE PARKER, as Trustee of the Steven Bruce Parker Family Trust,

Respondents.

District Court Case No. A-20-809612-B Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

- (A) NRAP 3A(b)(1) grants this Court jurisdiction to review the judgment or order appealed from, allowing an appeal to be taken from a "final judgment entered in an action."
- (B) The filing dates establishing the timeliness of the appeal are February 25, 2021 (Entry of Written Order Appealed from and written Notice of Entry of Order served) and March 25, 2021 (Notice of Appeal filed).
- (C) This appeal is from the District Court's final judgment entered February 25, 2021, to dismiss this action, as well as from the District Court's Order entered November 13, 2020, granting summary judgment to respondents. Pursuant to NRCP 54(b), the November 13, 2020, Order was not final in nature because it adjudicated fewer than all claims of fewer than all the parties. That Order became final, however, upon the District Court's entrance of its February 25, 2021 Order to Dismiss.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(9) as a case originating in Business Court.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the District Court err in finding no genuine issue of material fact remained for trial and that summary judgment was proper in this case, such judgment being based upon a Utah trial order and divorce decree that is currently on appeal?

Did the District Court err in granting summary judgment on claims not encompassed within the Assignment of Membership Interest in Valley Ascent, LLC A Nevada Limited Liability Company dated June 19, 2020, and that did not address claims that pre-dated the Assignment?

Did the District Court err in dismissing this case and depriving Appellant, Brad L. Knowlton, of a trial on the merits of the case?

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Brad L. Knowlton ("Knowlton"), commenced this lawsuit in District Court on January 31, 2020 after Respondents unlawfully removed him as Manager of Valley Ascent, LLC ("Valley Ascent" or "the Company"), a Nevada limited liability company. In his Complaint, Knowlton alleged breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, declaratory relief, intentional interference with contractual relations, expulsion as a member, breach of fiduciary duty, receivership, and preliminary injunction.

Respondents, William L. Lindner, as Trustee of the William L. Lindner and Maxine G. Lindner Trust of 1998; Juel A. Parker, as Trustee of the Juel A. Parker Family Trust; Lisa Parker, as Trustee of the Juel A. Parker Family Trust; Lisa Parker, an individual; and S. Bruce Parker, as Trustee of the Steven Bruce Parker Family Trust (referred to together as "Respondents"), filed an Answer and Counterclaim on March 20, 2020, objecting to Knowlton's claims and submitting several counterclaims.

On June 5, 2020, Knowlton was divorced from his wife, Shondell Swenson ("Swenson"), in the State of Utah (Case No. 174701016). The Decree of Divorce awarded Swenson the marital interest in Valley Ascent, and Knowlton assigned his membership interest in Valley Ascent to Swenson in accordance with the Divorce Decree by way of an Assignment of Membership Interest in Valley Ascent, LLC A Nevada Limited Liability Company ("Assignment"), effective June 19, 2020.

On June 15, 2020, Knowlton filed a Notice of Appeal in Utah, appealing to the Utah Court of Appeals from the Decree of Divorce. Months later, on September 23, 2020, Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment in District Court in Nevada. There, Respondents alleged Knowlton lacked standing to commence litigation against them because Swenson had been awarded all right,

title, and interest to Knowlton's membership interest in Valley Ascent in a Judgment and Decree of Divorce in the State of Utah.

Despite Knowlton's opposition to Respondents' claims, the District Court granted summary judgment on November 13, 2020, finding Knowlton had failed to demonstrate a right to pursue any of the claims asserted in his Complaint. The District Court subsequently dismissed the case on February 25, 2021, after a Motion from Respondents requesting their counterclaims be dismissed. With the dismissal of the counterclaims the decision of the Court on the Motion for Summary Judgment became final, and Knowlton filed his Notice of Appeal on March 25, 20201 in District Court in Nevada.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Pursuant to a 2005 Amended Operating Agreement ("Operating Agreement"), Knowlton is the Manager of Valley Ascent. *See* Joint Appendix Volume I at 030. As Manager, Knowlton is entitled to "all reasonable expenses incurred in managing the Company" and "compensation, in an amount to be determined from time to time by the written consent of the Members." *Id.* By virtue of an agreement reached at the time the Operating Agreement was signed, Knowlton was paid a management fee in the amount of four percent (4%) of the rents collected on the real properties owned by the Company. *See* Joint Appendix Volume III at 376. Knowlton's tasks as Manager of Valley Ascent included negotiating and preparing leases, maintaining the properties, performing accounting services, negotiating loan refinances, communicating with tenants and subtenants, paying taxes, and setting aside reserve funds for the Company.

The Operating Agreement set forth the membership interests of each member of Valley Ascent. Knowlton maintained a 38.55% membership interest in the Company. The William L. Lindner and Maxine G. Lindner Trust of 1988 maintained a 20% membership interest in the Company. The Juel A. Parker

Family Trust maintained a 36.45% membership interest in the Company. And the Steven Bruce Parker Family Trust maintained a 5% membership interest in the Company. *See* Joint Appendix Volume I at 045. Together, the Juel A. Parker Family Trust, the William L. Lindner and Maxine G. Lindner Trust of 1988, and the Steven Bruce Parker Family Trust held a combined membership interest in Valley Ascent of 61.45% (20% + 36.45% + 5% = 61.45%). *Id*.

In addition, the Operating Agreement also provided provisions for appointing a new manager. Pursuant to the document, "[E]ach Manager shall be appointed by the Members in accordance with Article VIII, and any vacancy occurring in the position of Manager shall be filled in the same manner." *Id.* at 031. Article VIII requires the approval "by a 70% vote of the Member Interests" to "remove a Manager for any reason other than gross negligence, self dealing or embezzlement." *Id.* at 032. The Operating Agreement does not include the position of "Interim Manager."

On December 23, 2019, Defendants signed a "Written Consent of the Members of Valley Ascent, LLC" ("Written Consent for Removal") purporting to remove Knowlton as the manager of the Company. *Id.* at 047 – 050. Knowlton did not sign the Written Consent for Removal, and the document was approved by only 61.45% of the membership interest in the Company. *Id.* Although the Written Consent for Removal alleged Knowlton's conduct as Manager of Valley Ascent was grossly negligent, and that Knowlton had "engaged in self-dealing in his capacity as manager," Defendants did not set forth specific acts of conduct by Knowlton which would give rise to gross negligence or self-dealing. *Id.* at 047. In addition to the Written Consent for Removal, Defendants signed a second Written Consent of the Members of Valley Ascent, LLC ("Written Consent for Appointment of Interim Manager") on December 23, 2019, approving and appointing Lisa Parker as "Interim Manager" of the Company. *Id.* at 052 – 055.

As already stated, the Operating Agreement provides for no such position as "Interim Manager."

Knowlton's removal prevented him from being compensated for his managerial services and from receiving any monthly distributions from the Company, and Knowlton contends the removal was done wrongfully. Between December 23, 2019, and the present, Knowlton has received no dividends for his membership interests in the Company and no payments for his position as Manager.

Accordingly, on January 31, 2020, Knowlton filed a Complaint with the Eighth Judicial District Court in Clark County, Nevada (Case No. A-20-809612-B) alleging breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, declaratory relief, intentional interference with contractual relations, expulsion as a member, breach of fiduciary duty, receivership, and preliminary injunction against Respondents. *Id.* at 009, 010, 012 – 015. Respondents filed an Answer and Counterclaim on March 20, 2020. *See* Joint Appendix Volume II at 285 – 313.

On June 5, 2020, Knowlton was divorced from his wife, Shondell Swenson ("Swenson"), in the State of Utah (Case No. 174701016). *See* Joint Appendix Volume III at 458. The Decree of Divorce ("Decree") entered in the Utah divorce action awarded Swenson the "marital interest in Valley Ascent." *Id.* at 439. In that regard, the Decree states as follows:

[Knowlton] shall sign a document through which he transfers and assigns his interest in Valley Ascent to [Swenson] and permanently relinquishes, waives, and/or releases any rights, interests, or claims related to his ownership interest in Valley Ascent within 14 days of the date of entry of this Judgment and Decree of Divorce.

Id.

To comply with the Decree, Knowlton executed an "Assignment of Membership Interest in Valley Ascent, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company" ("Assignment"), with terms as follows:

Effective June 19, 2020 and pursuant to the Judgment and Decree of Divorce entered on June 5, 2020 by the Court in Utah Civil Case No. 174701016:

- (1) Bradley L. Knowlton hereby transfers and assigns his interest in Valley Ascent, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, to Shondell Swenson; and
- (2) Bradley L. Knowlton hereby permanently relinquishes, waives, and/or releases any and all rights, interests, and/or claims related to his ownership interest in Valley Ascent, LLC, all of which have been transferred to Shondell Swenson by virtue of this Assignment of Interest.

See Joint Appendix Volume II at 337.

On May 13, 2020, however, Knowlton filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Trial Ruling and for Limited New Trial Pursuant to Rules 52, 54, and 59 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure ("Motion to Alter or Amend") (Case No. 174701016).

On June 15, 2020, Knowlton also filed a Notice of Appeal in his Utah divorce case (Case No. 174701016), appealing to the Utah Court of Appeals from the Decree and from the Utah court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Ruling on Objections to Form, and Trial Ruling in the divorce case. Subsequently, on December 11, 2020, Knowlton amended the Notice of Appeal to appeal from the November 12, 2020, Utah Ruling and Order on his Motion to Alter or Amend.

On September 23, 2020, Respondents filed their Motion for Summary Judgment in the Nevada District Court case, alleging that Knowlton lacked standing to continue pursuing his claims. *Id.* at 338 – 356. Knowlton opposed Respondents' assertion he lacked standing on October 7, 2020, in his Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. *See* Joint Appendix Volume III at 357 – 424. There, Knowlton consented to the dismissal of his claims for

intentional interference with contractual relations, expulsion as a member, and receivership, as well as his derivative claims for breach of fiduciary duty, while maintaining he still had standing to assert his remaining claims. Id. at 366 - 367.

Knowlton also informed the Nevada District Court of his Utah appeal from the Decree, stating the appeal was "presently ongoing" and that, "If successful, the outcome of that appeal could unwind and/or reverse the effect of the Assignment, and re-vest Knowlton with his Membership Interest in [Valley Ascent]." *Id.* at 368.

At a hearing on November 2, 2020, ten (10) days prior to the Utah Court's Ruling and Order on Knowlton's Motion to Alter or Amend, and in spite of the ongoing appeal in the state of Utah, the Nevada District Court granted Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment, finding "no issues of material or genuine fact that prevent granting summary judgment," and that "judgment is rendered in Defendants/Counterclaimants' favor on all claims asserted in the Complaint" because Knowlton "failed to demonstrate a right to pursue any of the claims asserted in the Complaint after transferring and assigning his interest in Valley Ascent to Ms. Swenson" *Id.* at 459 – 560. The Court's Order made no mention of Knowlton's appeal of his Utah divorce case, no mention of Knowlton's pending Motion to Alter or Amend, and no mention of any discussion regarding the strength or weakness of Knowlton's Utah appeal.

An Order denying the majority of Knowlton's requests in the Motion to Alter or Amend was signed by the Utah Court on November 12, 2020.

On February 5, 2021, Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss Counterclaims, which the District Court granted on February 25, 2021. *Id.* at 477 – 479. Accordingly, on March 25, 2021, Knowlton filed his Notice of Appeal with the Nevada District Court. *Id.* at 481 – 483.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- A. The Nevada District Court's November 2, 2020, ruling preceded the Utah Court's November 12, 2020, Ruling and Order on Knowlton's Motion to Alter or Amend. Because Knowlton had requested to amend the Utah Decree of Divorce and had requested a new trial, the Utah Decree of Divorce was not a final judgment when the Nevada District Court heard Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and rendered its decision.
- B. Knowlton is appealing his Utah Divorce Decree. Until the outcome of that appeal is final, the District Court cannot issue summary judgment or dismiss Knowlton's claims for lack of standing, and the District Court's Order should be stayed pending the outcome of the Utah appeals case.
- C. In the event this Court finds Knowlton's Divorce Decree is a final order and entitled to full faith and credit in Nevada, it should find the District Court erred in granting summary judgment because a genuine issue of material fact still exists, making summary judgment inappropriate. That genuine issue of material fact relates to the plain language of the Assignment, which sets forth an effective date for the assignment, indicates that Knowlton's claims were not transferred by assignment, and only assigns Knowlton's membership interests in Valley Ascent and not his interest as a Manager. The District Court ignored the plain language of the Assignment in its grant of summary judgment.
- D. Public policy in Nevada is that a case should be heard on its merits. By dismissing Knowlton's case, the District Court violated public policy and prohibited the case from being heard on its merits.

///

///

///

///

VI. ARGUMENT

A. THE UTAH DECREE OF DIVORCE WAS NOT A FINAL ORDER WHEN THE DISTRICT COURT GRANTED DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED UPON KNOWLTON'S ALLEGED ASSIGNMENT OF HIS INTEREST IN VALLEY ASCENT.

In Nevada, a judgment is final only if it is "procedurally definite." *Kirsch v. Traber*, 134 Nev. 163, 167, 414 P.3d 818, 821 (Nevada 2018). (Internal citations omitted.) "'Finality will be lacking if an issue of law or fact essential to the adjudication of the claim has been reserved for future determination. . . .'" *Id.* (citing Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 13 (Am Law Inst. 1982) at cmt. b). Furthermore, according to the Court in *Kirsch*, "Factors indicating finality include (a) that the parties were fully heard, (b) that the court supported its decision with a reasoned opinion, and (c) that the decision was subject to appeal." *Id.* at 134 Nev. 167, 414 P.3d 822. (Internal citations omitted.)

Moreover, NRCP 56(c) provides that summary judgment is appropriate only when, after a review of the record viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, there are no remaining issues of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Wiltsie v. Baby Grand Corp.*, 105 Nev. 291, 293, 774 P.2d 432, 433 (1989). *See also Butler v. Bogdanovich*, 101 Nev. 449, 451, 705 P.2d 662, 663 (1985).

Here, the Nevada District Court heard argument on Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment prior to a final determination of Knowlton's request to amend the Utah Decree of Divorce and for a new trial. The District Court's decision was based on NRCP 56 as "the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no 'genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.' " *See* Joint Appendix Volume III at 458 (citing *Tucker v. Action Equip. and Scaffold Co.*, 113 Nev. 1349, 1353, 951 P.2d

1027, 1029 (1997). The District Court found that "no issues of material or genuine fact [exist] that prevent granting summary judgment," and found that Knowlton "failed to demonstrate a right to pursue any of the claims asserted in the Complaint after transferring and assigning his interest in Valley Ascent to Ms. Swenson" *See* Joint Appendix Volume III at 459.

In reality, however, the Utah Divorce Decree was not final when the Nevada District Court issued its decision that Knowlton lacked standing, and the District Court's grant of summary judgment was in error. The Utah Decree of Divorce was not "procedurally definite," as required by *Kirsch*. The parties had not yet been fully heard in Utah, nor was the request to amend the Decree or for a new trial subject to an appeal. As such, Defendants were not entitled to summary judgment based on an alleged lack of standing by Knowlton.

B. KNOWLTON'S DIVORCE CASE IS ON APPEAL IN THE STATE OF UTAH AND THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER WAS PREMATURE.

Knowlton is appealing from the June 5, 2020, Utah Judgment and Decree of Divorce, which mandated the assignment of his interest in Valley Ascent. "The Constitution requires that 'Full Faith and Credit shall be given in each State to the public Acts, Records, and judicial Proceedings of every other State.' " *Donlan v. State*, 127 Nev. 143, 145, 249 P.3d 1231, 1233 (2011) (citing U.S. Const. art. IV, § 1). The legal principle of "full faith and credit" requires this Court to give a valid judgment in Utah the same effect in Nevada as it would have in Utah. *See Reynolds v. Stockton*, 140 U.S. 254, 264, 11 S. Ct. 773, 775 (1891).

Conversely, however, the effect of a judgment in one state cannot be given greater effect in another state than is given to it in the state where rendered. *Bd. of Public Works v. Columbia College*, 84 U.S. 521, 529 (1873). *See also Robertson v. Pickrell*, 109 U.S. 608, 610 (1883). According to this Court, "the Supreme

Court has clearly established that the Full Faith and Credit Clause does not require a State to apply another State's law in violation of its own legitimate public policy." *Donlan*, 127 Nev. at 145-146, 249 P.3d at 1233. (Internal citations omitted.)

Moreover, "As a corollary of this broader principle [of full faith and credit], a judgment will not be recognized or enforced in other states insofar as it is not a final determination under the local law of the state of rendition." *Thorley v. Superior Court*, 78 Cal.App.3d 900, 906, 144 Cal. Rptr. 557, 561 (Cal. Ct. App. March 20, 1978). (Internal citations omitted.) "Since a judgment will not have the force of res judicata as to issues that remain subject to final determination, a state is not required by the full faith and credit clause to recognize or enforce a judgment rendered in a sister state insofar as the judgment is not a final determination." *Id.* Where an "appeal [is] pending," and where "notice of appeal . . . [has] been filed," a Utah judgment may not be final. *Id.* at 78 Cal.App.3d at 907, 910, 144 Cal. Rpt. at 561, 564. Pursuant to the Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 13 (Am Law Inst. 1982) at cmt. f, "The pendency of . . . an appeal from a judgment, is relevant in deciding whether the question of preclusion should be presently decided in the second action. It may be appropriate to postpone decision of that question until the proceedings addressed to the judgment are concluded."

Here, the District Court dismissed Knowlton's action based on a summary judgment ruling holding that Knowlton had no standing to litigate because a Utah divorce Decree transferred the entirety of his interest in Valley Ascent to his exwife. *See* Joint Appendix III at 459 – 460. The Court's decision, however, ignored the fact that Knowlton has appealed the Utah Decree, challenging the Utah Court's division of marital property. That appeal was filed June 15, 2020, prior to Defendants' request for Summary Judgment and prior to the District Court's Order dismissing this case, as in *Thorley*.

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