IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

BRAD L. KNOWLTON, an individual,

Appellant,

v.

VALLEY ASCENT, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, WILLIAM L. LINDNER, as Trustee of the William L. Lindner and Maxine G. Lindner Trust of 1988, JUEL A. PARKER, as Trustee of the Juel A. Parker Family Trust, LISA PARKER, as Trustee of the Juel A. Parker Family Trust, LISA PARKER, an individual, and S. BRUCE PARKER, as Trustee of the Steven Bruce Parker Family Trust, Electronically Filed Oct 28 2021 03:17 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court Case No.: 82694

Respondents.

ANSWERING BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court properly determined that, as a result of the Assignment of his interests to his former wife, Knowlton had no standing to maintain the action. Knowlton's challenges to the validity to the Assignment should be disregarded, as he failed to preserve these issues below. However, even if considered, the challenges are without merit. Knowlton's challenge to the finality of the Decree is misdirected, as it was the Assignment, not the Decree, which actually transferred his interests. Moreover, to the extent the Decree has any bearing on the validity of the Assignment, it would be its finality for purposes of enforcement, and not for purposes of issue preclusion, that would be the relevant question. The law is clear in both Nevada and Utah that absent a stay, a judgment is enforceable pending any review.

Nor is there any merit to Knowlton's claims that the assignment did not include the causes of actions alleged herein. The plain language of the Assignment, which uses a plural to describe what was included in the transfer, belies Knowlton's claims that only his membership interest, and not all of his "rights, interests, and claims" related to that interests, had been transferred. Because the AOA did expressly disclaim any contractual right to the manager position, Knowlton could not have any claims based on his position as manager. And because all of his claims were transferred, claims that accrued prior to the effective date of the Assignment were necessarily included.

Accordingly, the judgment should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Standing is a question of law reviewed de novo." *Arguello v. Sunset Station, Inc.,* 127 Nev. 365, 368, 252 P.3d 206, 208 (2011). Contract interpretation presents a question of law, and is therefore review de novo. *May v. Anderson,* 121 Nev. 668, 672-73, 119 P.3d 1254, 1257 (2005). This court reviews a district court's order granting summary judgment de novo. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.,* 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005).

LEGAL ARGUMENT

The District Court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Respondents, as there were no issues of material fact as to whether Knowlton retained standing to bring his remaining causes of action. **NRCP 56.** Because standing must be maintained throughout a proceeding, dismissal is appropriate if standing when lost during the course of litigation.

That is precisely what occurred here. Subsequent to the filing of his Complaint, Knowlton transferred all interests and rights in his claims to his former wife. Accordingly, he was no longer in a position to receive any benefit from the litigation, and his claims were properly dismissed. *See Nat'l Gold Mining Corp. v. Hygrade Gold Co.*, No. 78685, at *4, n.3 (Nev. July 1, 2021) (holding that one who "released and relinquished all of his right, title and interest" in claims had not standing to pursue such claims).

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT KNOWLTON HAD NO STANDING TO MAINTAIN ANY OF HIS CAUSES OF ACTION.

Knowlton was no longer the real party in interest and had no standing to maintain his claims. The question of standing overlaps with the inquiry into whether a party is considered a real party in interest. "The real party in interest" rule embodied in NRCP 17 asks whether a party possesses "a significant interest in the litigation." *Arguello v. Sunset Station, Inc.*, 127 Nev. 365, 368, 252 P.3d 206,

208 (2011). Standing requires this significant interest, but also requires the party to have a sufficiently severe and legally cognizable injury such that a suit is appropriate. *Schwartz v. Lopez*, 132, 732, 743, 82 P.3d 886, 884 (Nev. 2016). Here, the Assignment transferred all of Knowlton's ownership interest in Valley Ascent, as well as any and all of his claims related to that interest. As all of his claims raised in his Complaint related to his ownership interest, such claims no longer belonged to Knowlton following the execution of the Assignment.

Knowlton's arguments that the Decree was not a final judgment that could be relied upon are without merit. In this matter, it is the validity of the Assignment that is at issue. Moreover, a judgment is final and enforceable pending appeal, unless enforcement of that judgment has been stayed. Here, there is no evidence of any stay of the Decree, nor of any effort to invalidate the Assignment. Accordingly, the District Court properly relied on the Assignment in finding that Knowlton no longer had standing to bring his claims.

A. The District Court Properly Considered and Relied on the Assignment, Regardless of any Purported Appeal of the Decree.

The District Court properly relied on the Assignment in finding that Knowlton had no standing. While Knowlton challenged the effect of the Assignment, he never challenged its validity. For the first time on appeal, Knowlton suggests that the Assignment should not have been relied upon, based on his argument that the Decree which ordered the Assignment's execution was not final. Specifically, he contends that because he purportedly sought to amend the Decree, it was not a final judgment when the District Court ruled on the Motion for Summary Judgment, and that the Decree continued to lack finality, due to a purported pending appeal.

First, Knowlton failed to preserve the issue, and therefore, it is not properly reviewed by this Court. Moreover, Knowlton failed to present any evidence that the Decree is currently subject to an appeal. Indeed, since he failed to make this argument below, the absence of such evidence is not surprising. Furthermore, Knowlton is simply incorrect that a Utah judgment is not enforceable while a motion to amend or an appeal of that order is pending. As Knowlton failed to show that the Assignment was not valid, the judgment should be affirmed.

1. Knowlton failed to preserve or support with evidence any issue of the validity of the assignment.

This Court should disregard pages 8-11 of the Opening Brief, as within those pages, Knowlton essentially challenges the validity of the Assignment, through a challenge to the finality of the Decree. Knowlton's theory is because the Assignment was executed due to the requirements of the Decree, and because he is appealing the Decree, the District Court should not have ruled on the issue of standing.

Knowlton did not challenge the validity of the Assignment below; instead, he posed various theories as to why the Assignment did not extend to some of his causes of action. Nor did he make any request to the District Court to stay this matter, or to delay ruling on the Motion for Summary Judgment, pending the outcome of his challenges to the Decree. Accordingly, Knowlton's attacks on the validity of such issues are not properly before this Court. *See Dermody v. City of Reno*, 113 Nev. 207, 210-11, 931 P.2d 1354, 1357 (1997) (denying consideration of new arguments raised on appeal where liability was contested on a different theory below); *Powers v. Powers*, 105 Nev. 514, 516, 779 P.2d 91, 92 (1989) (same).

Knowlton contends he raised this issue in his Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment, through a mention of a pending appeal in a footnote. *See Opening Brief,* pp. 6, 9. The point made in the footnote was that Knowlton's Opposition should not be construed as a waiver of claims made in his Utah appeal. III JA 568, n.1. Significantly, even this passing reference makes no mention of a request to a pending motion for amendment of the Decree. Also significant is the fact that Knowlton did not provide any evidence that an appeal was, in fact, actually pending. His affidavit did not include any assertion that a notice of appeal had been filed, and he did not provide a copy of any Notice of Appeal that he filed. Mere statements contained in a brief do not constitute evidence contained in the record. *Phillips v. State*, 105 Nev. 631, 634 (Nev. 1989) ("Facts or allegations contained in a brief are not evidence and are not part of the record.").² Nor did he provide any information as to the issues raised in the appeal, or explain how success in an appeal could result in the Assignment being voided.

Accordingly, even if Knowlton *had* raised a challenge to the Assignment based on a pending appeal of the Decree, the District Court could not have denied summary judgment on that basis, as summary judgment can only be granted or denied based upon evidence that would be admissible at trial. *See* NRCP 56(e) (affidavits in support of or in opposition to summary judgment "shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence"); *see also Collins v. Union Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n*, 99 Nev. 284, 302, 662 P.2d 610, 621 (1983) (evidence opposing summary judgment must be admissible at trial).

2. The appellate status of the decree was irrelevant to the issue of standing.

Even if Knowlton had properly raised and supported this issue, the argument would still fail. The District Court would not have been required to consider whether the Decree was entitled to full faith or credit. Once the Assignment was executed, the District Court did not need to look any further than that document.

² Knowlton implicitly acknowledges this rule in his factual statement, where he made no citation to the record to support his assertions that he filed an original and amended Notice of Appeal of the Divorce Decree. *Opening Brief*, p. 5.

Furthermore, even if the finality of the decree had any relevance, Knowlton's theory that a judgment is unenforceable while any review is pending is simply incorrect under both Nevada and Utah law. The law in both states is clear that absent the issuance of a stay, a judgment is enforceable. See Edwards v. Ghandour, 123 Nev. 105, 159 P.3d 1086 (2007), abrogated on other grounds by Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby, 124 Nev. 1048, 1054, 194 P.3d 709, 712-13 (2008); Mardanlou v. Ghaffarian, 351 P.3d 114, 118 (Utah Ct. App. 2015) ("However, absent a stay of judgment either by the district court itself or by an appellate court pending appeal, a district court has jurisdiction to enforce its judgment.")(internal quotations and citation omitted). Knowlton himself implicitly acknowledged this truth, by complying with the Utah court's order that he execute the Assignment within a set number of days. Clearly, he did not receive a stay of the Decree as to this issue, and therefore, he complied with its time limitation.

Despite his own recognition of the enforceability of the Decree, Knowlton relies on a California case, *Thorley v. Superior Court*, 78 Cal.App.3d 900 (Cal. Ct. App. 1978), for the proposition that a Utah judgment "may" not be final while an appeal is pending. *Opening Brief*, p. 10. However, Knowlton's careful cherry picking of language from this opinion is nothing more than an attempt to mislead the Court. In *Thorley*, it is made clear that it is not the filing of a Notice of Appeal that renders a judgment unenforceable, but rather, a subsequent entry of a stay of

enforcement upon the posting of a supersedeas bond that will halt enforcement pending that appeal. *See Thorley*, 78 Cal.App.3d at 907 ("Absent such notice and the giving of a bond, the judgment of the Utah district court was subject to immediate enforcement.").

Knowlton also relies on Nevada precedent discussing the full faith and credit to be given judgments from other states for purposes of issue preclusion as the authority determining whether an order is final. *Opening Brief*, pp. 8-9, *citing*, *inter alia*, *Kirsch v. Traher*, 134 Nev. 163, 414 P.3d 818 (2018). Knowlton points to *Kirsch*'s test for finality for purposes of issue preclusion to argue that the pendency of a motion to amend the judgment precludes finality under Nevada law. Such reliance is inapposite, however, because the Decree's relevance to the issues here, if it has any at all, would be as to its enforceability to preclude any reneging on the Assignment. Thus, the question would not be whether the test for issue preclusion has been satisfied, but instead, whether the judgement is enforceable.

Under Nevada law, it is clear that absent a stay, a judgment is enforceable while a NRCP Rule 59 Motion to Alter or Amend, or an appeal is pending. *See* NRCP 62(b)(authorizing grant of stay of execution pending certain post-judgment motions, including Rule 59, where appropriate bond is posted); (d) authorizing stay of judgment where appropriate security is posted. The law in Utah is nearly identical. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 62.

Knowlton's argument that the Decree was not a final judgment is both without relevance and without merit. The Judgment should be affirmed.

B. The Assignment Transferred Knowlton's Claims to Ms. Swenson.

Knowlton next contends that the Assignment did not include his causes of action in the litigation below. However, a view of the assignment establishes that this claim is without merit.

When construing the language of a document, the plain meaning of the words used should be applied. *See Canfora v. Coast Hotels & Casinos, Inc.*,121 Nev. 771, 776, 121 P.3d 599, 603 (2005) ("[W]hen a contract is clear on its face, it 'will be construed from the written language and enforced as written.'"). Here, the plain language of the Assignment indicates that Knowlton's claims were transferred to Ms. Swenson.

The Assignment stated:

- (1) Bradley Knowlton hereby transfers and assigns his interest in Valley Ascent, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, to Shondell Swenson, and
- (2) Bradley L. Knowlton hereby permanently relinquishes, waives, and/or releases any rights and all rights, interests, and/or claims related to his ownership interest in Valley Ascent, LLC, *all of which <u>have been transferred to Shondell Swenson by virtue of this Assignment of Interest.*</u>

II JA 337 (emphasis added). Based on this wording, it is clear that what was assigned to Ms. Swenson was not just the single item of Knowlton's "ownership

interest" in Valley Ascent, but also Knowlton's rights, interests, and claims related to that interest.

This is evident from the use of the *plural* present perfect verb form in the assignment language: "all of which <u>have</u> been transferred." Had it been only Knowlton's ownership interest that had been transferred, and not also the rights, interests and claims relating to the membership interest, then the clause would have used the singular verb form: all of which <u>has</u> been transferred. See Livingston v. *TrustGuard Ins.*, 558 F. App'x 681, 3 (7th Cir. 2014) (noting that phrase "any applicable bodily injury bonds or policies have been exhausted" meant "all such bonds and policies" due to the use of the plural "have been").

Because the ownership interest, and the "rights, interests, and/or claims related" to that membership interest were transferred to Ms. Swenson, the District Court properly held that Knowlton no longer had any interest in his causes of action.

1. Because the Assignment included Knowlton's "rights, interests, and/or claims," the effective date of the Assignment is immaterial.

Knowlton's claim that he is entitled to pursue claims to the extent of injuries suffered prior to the date of the Assignment is without merit. As shown above, all of Knowlton's "rights, interests and claims" were transferred to Ms. Swenson. Thus, existing claims, to the extent such had accrued, were included in the transfer.

Furthermore, even if Knowlton could have sought damages suffered prior to the date of the Assignment, the District Court properly dismissed the claims, as it is undisputed that Knowlton suffered no damages. The purported damages suffered by Knowlton were his nonreceipt of manager fees from January through June 2020. But here it is undisputed that Knowlton took payments for the time he served as manager. Leaving aside the fact that Knowlton presented no evidence that the members of Valley Ascent had ever agreed in writing to pay *any* fees to the manager, following his termination, Knowlton did not provide services, and therefore, earned no fee. Accordingly, he suffered no damages. Moreover, as shown below, any claimed entitlement to a fee would depend upon a contractual right to be the manager, which Knowlton did not possess.

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